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Edinburgh and the Wild West





Edinburgh is distinguished. Even today, when most towns have sunk into a sameness of shopping precincts and supermarkets, it preserves its dramatic, haughty flavour. As if alarmed by its own theatricality, it is courteous rather than kind, and hard-bitten rather than enthusiastic. “East windy and West-Endy” was the traditional Glasgow description of it, uttered with some complacency from that western city’s warmth and social cohesion, and it is true that Edinburgh tends to be, in every sense of the word, cool. And yet, to come to it by train, under the shadow of the sheer cliff on which the Castle stands, is to be aware of an ineffable grandeur. The underlying geography of the place dominates the town; for all the classical architecture and leaping bridges and the grand boulevard of Princes Street, Edinburgh cannot dismiss the impressiveness of the rock and the water and the ever-moving sky. The strident rhythms of “Caledonia stern and wild” rise from the childhood memory of anyone old enough to have grown up in a familiarity with that torrent of verse, and it is perfectly plain why this city is the capital of Scotland.


At Edinburgh’s heart lies a controlled energy like the radioactivity of its granite, kept in check by the severity of the material itself. Somewhere within its very geology, there is a hard, formal magic. In the mid-nineteenth century, that intrinsic flavour must have been much stronger, undiluted by the visual blanketing of modern architecture and the universality of chain-stores, banks and building societies. For Kenneth Grahame, who was not old enough to understand the city in any conscious way when his parents removed him from it, the sense of powerful landscape, more real and dependable than any construct of human beings, remained throughout his life the most dominating influence.


Castle Street rises from the Caledonian end of Princes Street, directly opposite the craggy height of the Castle itself. Above the new shop-fronts, the tall terraces are still gracious and, in their midst, a little before the roundabout at the crossing of George Street, one particular house is outstandingly impressive.


Number 32, now the offices of a chartered surveyor, is double-fronted, with a total of six floors rising from the basement to the small servants’ rooms set into the grey slate roof. Curved railings of a modest, practical kind flank the two stone steps which lead to the front door, and the windows are tall and beautifully proportioned. A plaque on the wall used to read, “Kenneth Grahame of the Golden Age was born here”, though it has now been replaced by one which cites Grahame as the author of The Wind in the Willows. It seems odd, perhaps, that the original made no reference to the famous book; one might think that “the golden age” was a sentimental description of the time in which Grahame lived.


In a sense, this is true. For his contemporaries, it was not as a children’s writer that Grahame was known, but as an essayist and rememberer of his own childhood. Long before Toad and Mole and Rat were thought of, adult Victorian readers were responding to Kenneth Grahame’s revelation of the child’s point of view in a book which both shocked and enchanted them. The Golden Age, published in 1895, is a half-fictionalised account of growing up, recalled with nostalgia and rueful humour, and with an underlying thread of anger which dispels any trace of mawkishness. It was for the authorship of this that the original plaque commemorated him, and it is odd to realise that, in the eyes of those who put it there, our own view of Grahame as the writer of a classic children’s book would be quite unfamiliar. To his late-Victorian contemporaries, Kenneth Grahame followed a well-established literary tradition, being an essayist very close in character to Robert Louis Stevenson, who was only nine years his senior.


This, too, comes as something of a shock, for The Wind in the Willows has the feel of a twentieth-century book, whereas Stevenson seems not far removed from the Victorian grandeur of Sir Walter Scott. The connection was, in fact, tangibly present in the young Kenneth’s life, for Sir Walter had lived for twenty-four years just across the road, at 39 North Castle Street. The house is there to this day, narrow and bow-fronted, much less grand than the Grahames’ residence further down towards Princes Street, despite its owner’s eminence. Although the great man left there in 1826, he was such a towering figure of his time that his presence was still felt in Castle Street after his departure, and those who read Scott in our own time might reasonably say that Edinburgh is even now imbued with his spirit.


The Grahames’ house has much to say, in its silent way, about the background which made Kenneth the complex, self-guarding person he was. The architecture itself embodies contradictions. Built in the grand style, there is a touch of the arrogant aestheticism which speaks of absolute financial security, and yet the design stops short of flamboyance. The silvery granite of the north-east has none of the near-foppishness of Bath. There is a decent restraint implicit in the plain façade of this house, and, too, in the almost Roman breadth of Castle Street. The Scottish capital is the antithesis of New York, where the streets are canyons packed with human activity and self-obsession. In Edinburgh, the wind-blown sky and rocky landscape form an active part of the city and impose their own reminder that humankind is not all-powerful. It expresses the essential Scottish contradiction between creative energy and a God-fearing respect for the way things are. Whoever ran the big house in Castle Street would need to observe both elements in order to keep a proper balance between ostentation and modesty.


Kenneth Grahame’s father, James Cunningham Grahame, could not keep that balance, for he was unable to find it within himself. He was an aristocrat born into the failing years of aristocratic rule, when the newly rich businessmen were taking over from the easy old power of the cultured, high-born families. On both his mother’s and his father’s side, Cunningham Grahame could trace his descent back through the Stuarts to Robert the Bruce, and he had inherited an aristocratic confidence which, coupled with a low boredom threshold, made him impatient with the mundane details of everyday life. Ostentation ruled him. He was a bon viveur, a poet, a spender of money; a popular man with a taste for good claret which brought him more friends than his unenthusiastically pursued legal career. As a king, he might have been splendid, but royal freebooting was a vanished option. The more recent generations of his family had gone into banking and law, while the earlier ones had generally settled for the Church.


Religion added its own tensions to the situation in which Cunningham found himself. His instinctive desire to be happy and idle was directly opposed to the Calvinism which had dominated his childhood. He was a man whose inner being was charged with a sense of excitement and infinite possibility, but he had been sternly taught to repress these feelings. He obediently studied law and became an advocate, and kept his writing of poetry so secret that it would never have been known at all but for a note by his cousin, Colonel John Grahame, saying that Cunningham “was a poet of no mean order, with a wonderful spirit of imagination”.1 Such creativity was more likely to be thought of by his elders as Original Sin than originality. As a result, the young man felt a guilt about his own nature which prevented him from being what he wanted to be, while he could not with enthusiasm be what he was supposed to be. His appearances in court had a certain popular following among his colleagues, but more for their entertainment value than the thoroughness of their preparation – and he drank heavily.


On 13 March 1855, when he was twenty-four years old, Cunningham married Bessie Ingles, the beautiful and extremely practical daughter of David and Mary Ingles, of Heriot Row, Edinburgh, and brought her to the house in Castle Street. He himself had lived at 118 Princes Street. Although Cunningham’s father had been a lawyer, in the family tradition, Bessie came of merchant stock, and had been born in Gibraltar. World travellers are apt to have an airy confidence about them, and Bessie had certainly inherited or acquired this quality. At eighteen, she was full of gaiety and charm, and Cunningham adored her. A daughter, Helen, was born to them a year after their marriage, followed in 1858 by Thomas William, always known as Willie.


The third child, Kenneth, was born in the icy morning of 8 March 1859, when the east wind, according to family legend, scoured along Princes Street and snow lay in the gutters.2 Dr James Simpson, whose pioneering use of chloroform in childbirth had become fashionable ever since Queen Victoria availed herself of it, came to the house just before dawn, and by eight in the morning had delivered Bessie of a hefty baby. Shaking hands with the proud father on the doorstep as he went out, Simpson guessed, rightly, that the child weighed little short of nine pounds. And, he said with optimism as he pulled his sealskin coat more tightly round him, blossom-time would not be long.


“The beloved professor”, as he was generally known, may have felt that the family whose house he was leaving had cause to be optimistic. Cunningham and Bessie were a handsome young couple, well supplied with life’s necessities. Compared with the births he had seen in his earlier years among the insanitary closes round the Grassmarket, this was a fairy-tale land, and the boy he had just delivered seemed set to be smiled upon by all good fortune.


Fairy-tales, like pearls, depend for their existence on the speck of irritant matter at the heart of the oyster. In fiction, the device of the late-arriving evil godmother, excluded from the christening, provides the impetus for the whole story. Without that tension, the human struggle for a successful outcome would never be established. Any tale worth the telling must be set against a fate which is at least partially adverse.


A real-life story must obey the same rules. Reading of someone whose circumstances are smooth and easy arouses a perverse desire for the banana-skin; the malign element lies at the base of all humour and all recognition, for the one thing we share is fallibility. The new-born Kenneth Grahame was a princeling of Scottish royal blood, but the jealous fairy made sure that he would never be dull or self-satisfied.


The grit in the Grahame oyster was, of course, Cunningham’s drinking. It is only the very rich who can afford to drink as a release from uncongenial reality, and the very rich usually do not need to. Cunningham Grahame, enmeshed in an upper-middle-class respectability which was not of his choosing, drank, as most alcoholics do, for the illusion of being in touch with his true self. Good claret was far more socially acceptable than the frequently used hashish and opium which were such a marked feature of Victorian society, and to this day there is a tolerance of aberrant and embarrassing behaviour among those “under the influence” (as the smiling description goes) which is denied to the users of other drugs. For Cunningham, drinking could, for a while, seem innocently convivial.


By the time Kenneth was born, the family was beginning to feel the strain of Cunningham’s “weakness”, as his daughter afterwards called it.3 The financial effects of heavy drinking are two-edged, for the drinker spends a lot while gradually becoming less able to earn. Appearances, however, had to be kept up. If Bessie were worried about the situation, she could not confide in anyone other than her closest and most intimately trusted relations, for the shame and social ignominy which resulted from a man’s failure to be “in control” were dreaded. She went on presiding over dinner parties and entertaining her husband’s guests with the sparkling gaiety for which she is best remembered, and tried to decide what to do.


There was no doubt that Bessie Grahame’s husband adored her. He liked nothing better than to show her off to his friends, delighting in her capable running of the house, her beauty and her liveliness. Unwittingly, she may have added to the tightening of the knot, for she must have made his business life seem doubly unattractive. A romantic, sensitive man, deeply in love with his beautiful wife, does not find it easy to attend to the distasteful tedium of what is supposed to be his career. As fewer people sought Cunningham’s legal advice and the whispers ran round Edinburgh, the new fear of failure gave him additional reason to seek oblivion. There must have seemed no way out of the nightmare, and no release from the discomfort of his pent-up feelings. His children were still very young, and it was not until later that he would find an outlet in quoting long stanzas of Scott and Macaulay to them as they accompanied him on walks.


There are no signs that Cunningham was consciously aware of his frustrations, but this is hardly surprising. His Calvinist upbringing had given him a fixed structure of right and wrong in which feeling was presented as an irresponsible temptation to self-indulgence, a gift, not of God, but of the Devil. His struggle was to subdue it rather than to understand it. He was not alone. Earlier in the century, the unhappy Charlotte Brontë, herself the child of a ferociously repressive clergyman, had written to a friend in an agony of guilt because her “urgent thirst to see, to know, to learn” appeared to be the product of “rebellious and absurd emotions”. Having “quelled them in five minutes”, she said sternly, “I hope they will not revive, for they were acutely painful.”


A poetic skeleton in the family cupboard perhaps made Cunningham particularly wary of revealing his secret versifying. His grand-uncle James had produced several books of religious poetry, including one called Sabbath Walks, and they were sufficiently bad for Lord Byron to have taken notice of them. He was, as Kenneth remarked, “a little nasty” about Uncle James.








    Lo! the Sabbath bard,


Sepulchral Grahame, pours his notes sublime


In mangled prose, nor e’en aspires to rhyme,


Breaks into blank the Gospel of St Luke


And boldly pilfers from the Pentateuch;


And undisturbed by conscientious qualms,


Perverts the Prophets and purloins the Psalms.











In a 1933 biography which was heavily influenced by Grahame’s widow, Patrick Chalmers doggedly refers to Uncle James as a “pleasing poet”, even though Byron had added a footnote to warn the public that “Mr Grahame has poured forth two volumes of cant, under the names of Sabbath Walks and Biblical Pictures”. Kenneth claimed firmly that he had never read these works. Another relative, Mrs Francis Grahame, wrote a “temperance tale” called The Curse of the Claverings which was published when Kenneth was seven years old, and one must wonder whether she had Cunningham Grahame in mind for, by that time, alcohol had ruined his life.


In the months following Kenneth’s birth, Bessie must have become aware that the family was heading towards a crisis. The big house, with its servants and its continuing lavish entertainment, was a costly burden, and her husband’s career was foundering in his ever-worsening alcoholic habit. In the immense secrecy which such an impending disaster imposed, she laid her plans. Cunningham’s family was nothing if not well connected, and his mother, who lived in Edinburgh, was a shrewd, sensible woman, well aware of the problem. Half-measures would not do. A radical change in the situation was called for, and it would have to be one which was socially acceptable, preferably disguised as a good opportunity.


The solution was a drastic one. Before Kenneth was a year old, Cunningham Grahame had applied for, and been awarded, the post of Sheriff-Substitute of Argyll, based in the distant town of Inveraray. In these days of easy communication, it is difficult to comprehend exactly how dramatic the move was. By Edinburgh standards, to go to the wild West of Scotland was tantamount to emigration.


Scottish affairs, until comparatively recently, were run on an essentially tribal basis. Argyll was Campbell country, and this makes it doubly bizarre that an East-Coast Grahame should have been appointed to a prime administrative job there. The suspicion that strings were pulled is impossible to discard, though the question of who did the pulling must remain speculative. Cunningham himself may have realised in a moment of awful sobriety that his only chance was to cut and run, but the master-minding of the move seems unlikely to have been his. Bessie and her mother-in-law could between them claim the advantages of aristocratic family ties, charm and considerable organising ability, and Cunningham, whether active in the proposal or not, was in no position to raise objections. The house was sold, and the family, together with the children’s nurse, Ferguson, packed up and set out for Ardrishaig, on the West Coast.


The move almost literally jolted the infant Kenneth into a first awareness of his surroundings. He declared later that he remembered “shiny black buttons, buttons that dug into dusty, blue cloth”.4 It is an apt description of the upholstery of a first-class carriage in the train which took them westward from the old Caledonian station in Edinburgh, just round the corner from the house which they were leaving. The journey continued on one of the many paddle steamers which criss-crossed the sea-lochs and the Firth of Clyde, chugging past Bute to call at Tighnabruaich and Tarbert and, finally, Ardrishaig. And there, in the little harbour town with its fishing boats and “puffers”, the family settled in rented accommodation. The house was called Annfield Lodge, and it still exists, a large granite villa on Tarbert Road, now known as Allt-na-Craig. It was then the property of Dugald MacLachlan. Among the letters filed by the County Assessor is one demanding of Cunningham Grahame 12/- of Assessed Taxes “being the duty for a dog”.


Pleasant though the house was, Cunningham Grahame could spend little time there. His job obliged him to work in Inveraray, where the courts were situated and, in the pre-motorised age, the journey from Ardrishaig was too long to be undertaken on a daily basis. At the time, there was a move afoot to re-site the courts in the rising town of Lochgilphead, a proposal which was naturally opposed by the dignitaries of Inveraray, and the Grahames’ living arrangements were caught up in these negotiations. In order to unite the Sheriff and his job in Inveraray, it was essential for local political reasons to make him comfortable there. A letter from Alexander Campbell of Auchindarroch to the Commissioners of Supply of Argyllshire is indignant on the new Sheriff’s behalf, pointing out that “Mr Sheriff Grahame has, since his appointment, been put to the double expense of a house near Lochgilphead for the accommodation of his family, and another in Inveraray for the performance of his official duties – the latter being quite unsuitable for a family residence. That he should have submitted to this expense and inconvenience, resulting as it does in living almost entirely absent from his family, offers ample evidence of the quality of the accommodation at present offered by the town of Inveraray.”5


The Inveraray lobby had found itself a powerful, if unwitting ally in Sheriff Grahame, a stranger with no Argyll home base. To settle him and his family in Inveraray would almost certainly prevent the loss of the courts to Lochgilphead. Cunningham was evidently aware of his importance in the negotiations and, with a lawyer’s acumen, he pushed his advantage. A further letter from Alexander Campbell reveals that he “declined to build upon the feu offered to him by the Duke of Argyll”. Slightly shocked, Campbell went on to remark that “it might reasonably have been supposed that the Duke had fulfilled all that he was called to do, but his Grace has very liberally consented to build a large and handsome house for the Sheriff, and it is at present in the course of construction”.


This letter was dated 1 March 1862, so the Grahames had been in Argyll for two years while the battle of local interests raged over their heads. The plans for the big house were drawn up by the Duke’s architect, George Devey, an Englishman who had built other houses in Argyllshire, and the site which Cunningham condescended to accept was a prime one with a commanding view across the loch.


As far as the Grahames’ family life was concerned, the move must have seemed a success. In the utterly new surroundings of the west, with its glinting sea between the long blue shapes of the islands and its sudden comings and goings of rain and sun across the water, life was relaxed and undemanding. Although the newcomers were undoubtedly a source of great curiosity and speculation among the town’s residents, social life did not immediately embrace them. As the occupiers of a rented house, the Grahames did not qualify for inclusion in the established, property-owning society, and the relentless entertaining which had dominated their Edinburgh life gave way to an easier pace. The children were blissfully happy, and Kenneth’s extraordinarily clear memory is precise about the delights of Mrs Jenkins’s shop where you could buy sticky gingerbread and “conversation lozenges”, and where the cockatoo called after you down the street. Their nurse-maid was being courted by the local policeman. Whether this was Ferguson herself is doubtful; if it was, she certainly never married him. It seems more likely that a local girl had been engaged as an assistant, complete with her thriving emotional life. Either way, the romance was partially conducted during leisurely trips in a rowing boat, accompanied, to their delight, by the children. They had two Cairn terriers, Bhodach and Cailliach (Gaelic for The Old Man and The Old Woman), and Helen wrote, years later, that “I rather think we had two Bhodachs one after the other. They came from the MacNeills of Colonsay who lived at Ardlussa. Mr Malcolm MacNeill was in the 78th Highlanders with Uncle Harry Ingles – one of the Bhodachs was his … We knew a good many Gaelic phrases from the fishermen at Ardrishaig & cd say How are you? & Very well this morning – & had saithe and lythe out of the loch for breakfast – those were happy days.”6


She added, “I don’t remember the terriers coming up to the nursery – we had a big black dog called Don, extremely intelligent, who used to go out with us …”


There was lots of going out. A photograph of Cunningham with his children shows the two little boys sailor-hatted and jacketed, Helen looking a little like Alice in Wonderland in ribbon-bordered skirts and a cape thrown about her shoulders. Their father is a big, bearded man whose unruly hair recedes from a high forehead. He stares resolutely away from the camera, puffy-featured and untidy, a Cairn terrier at his feet. Kenneth, at two or three years old, is hardly bigger than the dog, but grave and self-possessed, his brother Willie standing behind him with something of his father’s air of reluctant compliance.


In the two years spent in Ardrishaig, Kenneth developed a passionate love of the sea and all its associated activities. The fishermen befriended the two little boys who hung so constantly round the harbour, fascinated by the lapping of water under boat-hulls and by the fishergirls who were so swift and so careless of mess as they threaded lug-worm and mussel on to the endless line of hooks. Rory McGilp, bearded and brown-faced, with eyes a paler blue than his jersey, gave each of the lads a carved model boat, The Ocean’s Pride for Willie and The Canty Queen for Kenneth. Poor Helen was not given one; though the eldest, she was a girl, and so had to submit to the befrilled decorum expected of her, despite her robust independence of mind.


For Kenneth there were no such inhibitions. He was intoxicated with the joys of water and boats, and forty years later he could recall this first delight, re-living it through Mole “as he leant back in his seat and surveyed the cushions, the oars, the rowlocks, and all the fascinating fittings and felt the boat sway lightly under him”.7 With the Water Rat, he assures the newcomer that “there is nothing – absolutely nothing – half so much worth doing as simply messing about in boats”. In his own voice, he recalled the “big, black-sided fishing boats” and the hours spent on the pier, watching the steamers with their “ever recurrent throb of paddle-wheel, the rush and foam of beaten water among the piles, splash of ropes and rumble of gangways”.8 While disparaging train journeys as tedious and usually disappointing, he conceded that they could sometimes lift the heart when “over the reeking house-tops there appeared a tangled tracery of masts, while a delicate waft of tar and harbour-mud breathed of the authentic, unsuspected Paradise at hand”.9


Cunningham Grahame, when free of his duties at the Inveraray courts, shared his small son’s delight. These were the years when he would walk with his children and quote the rolling verses which stayed in Kenneth’s head long after the time in Ardrishaig had ended and the big man who had held his hand was no more. The idea of fatherhood lived on in the smell of seaweed and in the orderly tangles of rope and sun-faded brown canvas and in the bold stride of Longfellow’s metre.








I remember the black wharves and the slips


And the sea-tides tossing free;


And the Spanish sailors with bearded lips


And the beauty and mystery of the ships


And the magic of the sea.











Early in 1863, Dugald MacLachlan sold Annfield Lodge, but it may have been before this that the family moved along the coast to Lochgilphead, where the shallower water of the loch’s end offers no harbour for sea-going ships. Again, they rented a house while work continued on the construction of their eventual home. Lochgilphead lacks the maritime bustle of Ardrishaig, but it stands at the junction of the roads from Tarbert and from Oban with the main route to Glasgow, and so has a kind of centrality which may have appealed to the extrovert Bessie, who always liked to be “in the swim”. For the young Kenneth, it was landscape both calmer and wilder, a dreaming place “among the gleaming lochs and sinuous firths of the Western Highlands”, as he wrote later, “where, twice a week maybe, the strange visitant crept by headland and bay, a piece of the busy, mysterious outer world”.10 The words are charged with the awareness that the little inlet called Loch Gilp was no more than a backwater which ran a short distance inland from the meandering length of Loch Fyne.


The stay in Lochgilphead had been a temporary and fairly brief one, for the house in Inveraray was completed in May 1863, and the Grahames moved in to take possession of its comfortable splendour. Built of red sandstone, with steeply pitched roofs interrupted by gabled windows, the house combined grandeur with appealing domesticity. It was, in truth, “a large and handsome house”, as visitors may confirm to this day, for it is now the Loch Fyne Hotel.


The Sheriff of Argyll was well and truly installed in Inveraray, and the social recognition which had awaited him moved smoothly into action. The Grahames received an invitation from the Duke and Duchess to dine at the Castle. On 2 October 1863 Bessie Grahame described the occasion in a bubblingly enthusiastic letter to her mother, saying that she had met “a lot of county people, the Malcolms, the MacNeils”, together with “a nice Lady Emma, the Duke’s sister”.11 In the same letter, she talked of how the Duchess had promised to send her gardener “to help with the flower beds at the new house”. Bessie’s liveliness and beauty had scored their usual social triumph, and it was probable that nobody at the gathering realised that pretty Mrs Grahame was four months pregnant.


Eight days after Kenneth’s fifth birthday, on 16 March 1864, his younger brother, Roland, was born. The children occupied luxurious quarters, with a day-room which looked out across the lawn to the loch and a night-nursery with a view through tall pines to the sugar-loaf hill of Duniquoich. Once again the fairy-tale seemed intact – and, once again, a malign element struck. A few days after the birth, Bessie went down with a virulent attack of scarlet fever. For nearly two weeks she struggled against it, but on 4 April, she died. She never lost her gaiety; with her last breath she whispered, “It’s all been so lovely.”


On the day of his mother’s death, Kenneth became ill with the same infection. Cunningham hardly noticed. He was crazed with grief at the loss of his beloved wife, and had no concern to spare for the new-born baby or for the other three children. If anything, they were a mocking reminder of what he had lost, and reinforced a nightmare reality. Bessie had been not only beautiful and capable, she had constituted his whole emotional life. Without her, he was lost. He turned blindly to the analgesic effects of alcohol, and it may well have been the distraught servants who prompted him to write to his old mother in Edinburgh, asking her help in the nursing of the desperately sick little boy.


Old Mrs Grahame at once made the long journey to Inveraray, and sat by the feverish child’s bedside day and night, to offer him the perilously slender lifeline of her presence. Holding his hand and murmuring a constant babble of stories and reminiscences, she half-penetrated his delirium and touched his interest in the world of the living which had become so remote. With a strange circularity, the last public address which Kenneth Grahame ever gave, to a packed audience in a Thames-side village hall when he was over seventy, came back to that childhood illness and to the presence of his grandmother. He remembered, in the discursive, dreamlike way which is so essentially childlike, some of the rambling tales.


“When my grandmother was a young girl, living at home with her parents, in London I think, though I cannot be sure of that, one night a certain mild excitement was caused in the house by the arrival of the Edinburgh Mail. Now the Edinburgh Mail of those days was carried by a coach and four horses, and took some four days to get through with luck and travelling hard, so its arrival was something of an event. Well, there were the usual business letters for the father, and the long letters of gossip -Edinburgh and Glasgow gossip – crossed and re-crossed for the mother, and there was besides a dumpy package tied up with string, bearing the label of the well-known publishing firm of Ballantyne, and on this, the girl, my grandmother, fell with a shout of triumph, for she knew it could be nothing else but an early copy of the very latest Waverley Novel – I forget which of them it was now – a book waited for throughout the length and breadth of England with an intensity which seem strange to us now. So when the girl took her bedroom candlestick and climbed upstairs to her little room at the top of the house, she managed to carry the precious parcel with her, intending to start on the book the following day, as early as her domestic duties which came first in those days, would permit her. Arrived in her bedroom, she said to herself, ‘I wonder if it would be very wrong of me if I just took a peep at the first page, merely to see how the story begins?’ So she stretched herself on the hearthrug, with her candlestick on the floor beside her, and cut the string of the parcel. And the hours slipped by, and the candle burnt low, and the grey dawn began to filter in past the blind, and still the girl read on. And the candle guttered in its socket, and the dawn gave way to full light which took the place of the candle, and still the girl read on, entranced, bewitched, possessed and held spell-bound by a touch of the wand of him who was already known as the Wizard of the North.”12


This passage, with its rhythmic repetitions and its use of sentences which begin with the word “and”, is pure story-telling, aural rather than literary, remembered as effortlessly as nursery rhyme and reproduced without artifice, in a faithful carrying-on of a tradition which, no less than Scott, has the power to entrance, bewitch and hold spell-bound. Cunningham’s mother drops only this single offering into the complex pattern which made her grandson one of the best-loved writers of all time, and yet this piece of the mosaic is an important one. The girl who read on and on was giving expression to an imaginative thread which ran strongly through the apparently dour and self-controlled family, and which was suppressed in her son but came to fruition in her grandson.


Kenneth gradually pulled round from the long illness, but he came back to a changed household. Bessie’s gaiety had gone from the family and so, too, had the stability which her common sense had provided. Cunningham had shut himself away in an alcoholic stupor. As soon as Kenneth was well enough to be left to the care of the servants, old Mrs Grahame went back to Edinburgh, where she called a family conference. With remarkable speed, a decision was made about the four motherless children and their collapsed father, who quite obviously could not look after them. Bessie’s mother, “Granny Ingles”, who lived in the south of England, would take the children, and John Grahame, Cunningham’s brother, would meet the necessary expenses. This latter arrangement tends to confirm that the family had long been aware of the impending financial crisis. Now, the arrangements were made with a stoic acceptance of duty. Mrs Mary Ingles, recently widowed, had a house big enough to accommodate the four children and their nurse, and so she was the obvious choice. The fact that, at sixty, she had only just finished bringing up six children of her own and might be daunted by the prospect of starting all over again, was immaterial. The family was in too much difficulty for such personal concerns to matter.


This crisis was not the first to hit them, for John Grahame’s own wife had died, leaving him with four children. His daughter, also called Bessie, wrote afterwards in affectionate memory of “dear old Grannie” who “had also to help in our upbringing until my father married again. There was very little money I am sure in the family & things must have been difficult.”13 Such difficulties were never mentioned in the children’s hearing – and neither was the reason for Cunningham’s incapacity. It remained a dark family secret, uncommunicated even to wives and close cousins unconnected to the actual events. Had it not been for a later visit to their father, the children themselves might not have known the truth and, as it was, Helen found it difficult to touch on the subject, even in her old age. Writing about her mother’s death, she admitted that it “must have been a dreadful grief to my father – he was left alone to brood over it & the failing wh. he shared with many other clever men increased & made him unfit for work.


“It made our circumstances very straitened,” she went on, “our Grandmother’s income was a small one & if our uncle had not helped her I don’t know what would have become of us.”14


Within a few weeks of their mother’s death, the children’s possessions were packed and, with Ferguson, they started on the journey south to Berkshire, in the unknown country of England.
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All on Fire





Compared to the wild beauty of Inveraray, the landscape of the southern downlands was cosy and enclosing. Granny Ingles lived in a rambling, beautiful old house surrounded by several acres of orchards and terraced gardens, no longer kept neat since the death of her husband. It was a place where four children could do little damage, and where they could play extravagantly inventive games. The Mount, as its name suggests, had been an old shooting lodge, and it lay amid rich farmland near the village of Cookham Dene, on the edge of the Berkshire Downs. The name is evocative, stirring up associations with the bosomy, checked-and-flower-spotted paintings of Stanley Spencer, who was born in nearby Cookham in 1891. Spencer said, “When I was happy, I knew what a daisy was and what Widbrook Common meant, though what exactly the meaning was I didn’t need to define”.1 The young Kenneth Grahame seems to have looked at its landscape with an equally detailed visual delight. In the unsupervised freedom of a household which was not over-anxious to concern itself with four newly arrived children, he and his brothers, and Helen too, found themselves able to explore meadows and cow-parsley-scented lanes and the meandering, willow-bordered river. It was a setting which offered boundless scope for play, both of the physical kind and in that annexe to reality which can be built of the imagination.


This was the time which Grahame commemorated in his two nostalgically titled books, The Golden Age and Dream Days. When they were published towards the end of the century, there was some indignation about his assumption that children are happiest in the absence of adult care, and about his portrayal of grown-ups as “the Olympians” who, far from being important and sensible, are seen as living in a state of self-made absurdity.


“We …” Grahame claims, “could have told them what real life was. We had just left it outside, and were all on fire to get back to it.”2 He goes on to demolish the idea of adult superiority.




On the whole, the existence of these Olympians seemed to be entirely void of interests, even as their movements were confined and slow, and their habits stereotyped and senseless. To anything but appearances they were blind. For them the orchard (a place elf-haunted, wonderful!) simply produced so many apples and cherries; or it didn’t – when the failures of Nature were not infrequently ascribed to us. They never set foot within fir-wood or hazel-copse, nor dreamt of the marvels hid therein. The mysterious sources, sources as of old Nile, that fed the duck-pond had no magic for them. They were unaware of Indians, nor recked they anything of bisons or of pirates (with pistols!), though the whole place swarmed with such portents. They cared not to explore for robbers’ caves, nor dig for hidden treasure. Perhaps, indeed, it was one of their best qualities that they spent the greater part of their time stuffily indoors.





Peter Green, in his 1959 biography, provides a vivid picture of The Mount as it was when he went to see it.




Round the house stand magnificent copper beeches, and the garden descends in terraced levels, decorated with flagged lily-ponds, low Italian walls, and ponderous stone flower-pots. The orchard is wild enough to contain any number of buffalo or pirates, while the house itself might have been specially made for children. The leaded windows, the old Dutch tiles, the heavy beams made out of ships’ timbers, the twisting staircase leading up to a dusty, vaulted attic under the eaves – all must have been a paradise through which the young Grahames roamed in a private dream, only occasionally bothered by the claims of their latest governess or tutor.





Victorian respectability accounted to some extent for the gulf which existed between the children and the adult world, with all its formalities of dress and behaviour, but the young Grahames were particularly devoid of the adult company and influence which is nowadays thought to be so essential to children’s development. Toys, too, were few, for although Uncle John’s provision ensured life’s necessities, he was not a philanthropic man, and had no intention of spending money on what he considered to be frivolities.


According to Grahame’s own estimation, it was this gulf itself which provided the basis of the children’s wildly active imagination, and, if this is true, it must lead us to the disturbing idea that our present-day inclusion of children in all the day-to-day business of adult life may be acting as a deprivation of mental stimulus rather than the benefit which we assume it to be. Certainly the young Kenneth regarded enforced participation in adult affairs as an unwelcome imposition, when he and his siblings were “captured, washed, and forced into clean collars: silently submitting, as was our wont, with more contempt than anger”. Something of the same resistance remained with him throughout his life, and in his early thirties he reflected sombrely on the loss of his youth. “Somehow the sun does not seem to shine so brightly as it used; the trackless meadows of old time have shrunk and dwindled away to a few poor acres. A saddening doubt, a dull suspicion, creeps over me. Et in Arcadia ego – I certainly did once inhabit Arcady. Can it be that I also have become an Olympian?”2


There is an irony in the words which Grahame did not suspect. The original Latin tag was an inscription on a tombstone, and is spoken by Death, who is present even in Arcady. As a scholar, Kenneth was always inclined to bend learning to his own purposes rather than immerse himself in it with academic devotion. The basic conviction, however, remained unaltered by the faulty understanding. Like Wordsworth, Grahame believed that the human soul is intact and perfect at birth, and that the compromises which are forced on it by experience of the world serve only to harden it, like an ill-used heart, into eventual non-functioning.


At The Mount, the children were adequately fed, clothed and educated, but the four of them had to depend on each other for comfort and company. Granny Ingles, black-clad and tight-buttoned, was the severe “Aunt Eliza” of Kenneth’s fictionalised rememberings. She was, Helen said afterwards in fairness, “Not strict, except about our table manners” – and added that she was “A fine-looking old lady, very sociable and a good talker”.3 It was virtually only at the table that the adults and the children met. For the rest of the time, the care of the four little Grahames was given over to Ferguson and the servants, whom Kenneth regarded as friends rather than Olympians. The god-like world of adult relatives had proved itself utterly unreliable. His laughing, capable mother had not been capable enough to withstand death, and his father, with his long stride and his endless memory for poetry, had disappeared as well, for reasons which nobody would explain. It was not even safe to get too fond of any particular cook or kitchen-maid, for they, too, came and went, giving no clue as to the causes.


The only person who earned himself real popularity with the children was their mother’s twin brother, David. He was a curate, a graduate of Edinburgh Academy and Trinity College, Cambridge, where he had in 1860 (the year after Kenneth’s birth) acquired a rowing Blue. His first curacy had been at Stoke-on-Trent, but he managed to get an appointment to Cookham Dene in the same year that the young Grahames arrived from Scotland, and lived with them in his mother’s household at The Mount. Helen said simply, “He was curate at Cookham Dene which was why we went there …”4 He evidently felt a real concern for his dead sister’s children. He crops up in various guises several times in Kenneth’s early writing, but he is never referred to by the dreadful title of “Uncle”. He often apears as “the curate”, and he would, Kenneth said, “receive, unblenching, the information that the meadow beyond the orchard was a prairie studded with herds of buffalo, which it was our delight, moccasined and tomahawked, to ride down with those whoops that announced the scenting of blood. He neither laughed nor sneered, as the Olympians would have done; but, possessed of a serious idiosyncrasy, he would contribute such lots of valuable suggestions as to the pursuit of this particular sort of big game that, as it seemed to us, his mature age and eminent position would scarce have been attained without a practical knowledge of the creature and its native lair. Then, too, he was always ready to constitute himself a hostile army or a band of marauding Indians on the shortest possible notice: in brief, a distinctly able man, with talents, so far as we could judge, immensely above the majority. I trust he is a bishop by this time. He had all the necessary qualifications, as we knew.”5


In a different incarnation, this time as an artist met by the wayside, David’s personality causes the writer to say, “I began to like this man. He answered your questions briefly and to the point, and never tried to be funny. I felt I could be confidential with him.”6 Grahame therefore confides that in his ideal city “there wouldn’t be any relations at all, unless they promised they’d be pleasant; and if they weren’t they’d have to go”. But, he adds, “I’d have Martha to cook and wash up and do things. You’d like Martha. She’s ever so much nicer than Aunt Eliza. She’s my idea of a real lady.”


David and Martha apart, the most consistent reliable influence on Kenneth’s life was Nature itself. When humans seemed baffling and irrational, the natural world laid out its own intrinsic logic with perfect simplicity. It was the source of all delight.




Colt-like, I ran through the meadows, frisking happy heels in the face of Nature laughing responsive. Above, the sky was bluest of the blue; wide pools left by the winter’s floods flashed the colour back, true and brilliant; and the soft air thrilled with the germinating touch that seems to kindle something in my own small person as well as in the rash primrose already lurking in sheltered haunts.7





His sudden use of the present tense in “seems” is revealing. In mid-sentence, he has returned mentally to that time and is re-experiencing it. Years later, when he went back to Cookham Dene with his own small son, he was in search of the same boyhood awareness. He was not disappointed.


“I can remember everything I felt then, the part of my brain I used from four till about seven can never have altered,” he told Constance Smedley, but added a bleak coda. “After that time, I don’t remember anything particularly.”8 His forgetting was, perhaps, half-deliberate. In a story called The White Poppy, he made it clear that memory was, for him, a painful business:




Let black, then, rather stand for hideous memory; white for blessed blank oblivion, happiest gift of the gods! For who, indeed, can say that the record of his life is not crowded with failure and mistake, stained with its petty cruelties of youth, its meannesses and follies of later years, all which storm and clamour incessantly at the gates of memory, refusing to be shut out? Leave us alone, O gods, to remember our felicities, our successes: only aid us, ye who recall no gifts, aptly and discreetly to forget.





In The Wind in the Willows, too, oblivion is the ultimate gift bestowed by the great god Pan in the strange dawn meeting which is the crisis of the whole book. The only thing which can be remembered without pain, Grahame suggests, is the tangible magic of the natural world. The Mole, emerging as if new-born from the dark tunnel of his underground home, is, like the young Kenneth himself, enchanted by the first sight of flowing water.




Never in his life had he seen a river before – this sleek, sinuous, full-bodied animal, chasing and chuckling, gripping things with a gurgle and leaving them with a laugh, to fling itself on fresh playmates that shook themselves free, and were caught and held again. All was a-shake and a-shiver – glints and gleams and sparkles, rustle and swirl, chatter and bubble. The Mole was bewitched, entranced, fascinated. By the side of the river he trotted as one trots, when very small, by the side of a man, who holds one spellbound by exciting stories …





One senses that it was the loss of Cunningham, rather than Bessie, which was most deeply traumatic to the small boy. His mother had been removed, not by her own choice, but by death, whereas his father continued to live somewhere, complete with his power to bewitch, entrance and fascinate. In all Grahame’s work, the lost father is insubstantially present, cropping up as the wise older man (or animal), culminating in the bearded, powerful figure of Pan himself. The paternal spirit is on the one hand as gruff and domestic as Badger, comfortably slippered and pipe-smoking, and on the other as wild as the god of nature, an awe-inspiring presence to be both feared and revered. To Kenneth, these romantic extremes were the essence of maleness, whereas the more mundane middle ground of plain reality was a female affair which any competent woman could manage. His mother had brought her own beauty and gaiety to her role as household manager, but her sphere had been strictly practical. Within these limitations, kindly servants could and did to some extent replace her function as a provider of domestic comfort; it was not until later, at the beginning of adult life, that the absence of a loving, communicative mother began to have a damaging effect which Grahame, like many men of his generation, never realised. At a time when women were regarded as possessions rather than fully functioning people, lack of female influence on growing sons was in no way abnormal. To be motherless, whether actually or in effect, merely demanded an earlier acquisition of strength and self-reliance, but to be fatherless was a disaster, for it robbed a boy of a semi-magical concept of what he might become.


The Mount, run by the formidable Granny Ingles and a staff of mostly female servants, provided a setting of down-to-earth practicality against which the magical quality of men stood out in sharp relief, making them appear either as heroes or villains. David was a hero, and so was Uncle Jack Ingles, “wildly welcome” on his occasional visits from Portsmouth, where he commanded HMS Hercules. Anything to do with the sea and ships – or even the river and small boats – constituted instant enchantment, whereas landlubbers were by definition a dull lot. Farmer Larkin, who appears in Maxfield Parrish’s marvellous illustrations to The Golden Age as a sky-tall cudgel-waving giant, his straddled legs knee-deep in standing hay, is the arch-enemy, but reluctantly admired. His threats of what he will do if he catches the young varmints chasing his calves again cast him as Captain Hook to the children’s Peter Pan. He belongs, at least partially, to their Never-Never Land.


If, as Carlyle insisted, human beings need heroes, then the young Grahames found them in their own imagination for the most part, and real people could only obtain heroic status if they could be incorporated into the world of inspired pretending. Most of them, of course, could not. They remained outside, disapproving, humourless, and all-powerful. Worst of all, in Grahame’s view, were the “hopeless and pig-headed” uncles, and he wrote a savagely funny piece called Justifiable Homicide in which he dwelt with pleasure on the thought of a nephew’s revenge.




I had a friend who disposed of a relative every spring. Uncles were his special line – (he had suffered much from their tribe, having been early left an orphan) – though he had dabbled in aunts, and in his hot youth, when he was getting his hand in, he had even dallied with a grand-parent or two. But it was in uncles he excelled.





Grahame himself admits that “to children with a proper equipment of parents these things would have worn a different aspect”. The aunts and uncles “treated us, indeed, with kindness enough as to the needs of the flesh, but after that with indifference (an indifference, as I recognise, the result of a certain stupidity), and therewith the commonplace conviction that your child is merely an animal”.9


This “commonplace conviction” underlay the Victorian attitude to children, making it quite logical that they should be “seen and not heard”, much as puppies are admired for their sweet looks but not for their barking. The emotional deprivation which the young Grahames suffered was not unusual, for upper-class families tended in any case to hand over their young to the care of servants, and saw them only when they were washed and presentable. It is a coincidence that the second half of the nineteenth century saw an extraordinary flowering of literature? Grahame, in recalling his own childhood, speaks to some extent for his generation. He and his siblings were not alone in their isolation from adults; many other children turned, as they did, to the natural world for solace and for the communication of truth. A sense of connectedness to nature shines through Victorian writing and gives it a touch of wildness which is quite absent from the enclosed social dramas of Jane Austen. That “indoors” tradition continued in Thackeray and Trollope, but it co-existed with such wild men as Richard Jefferies, George Borrow, Robert Louis Stevenson, and Walt Whitman. Hardy’s work is charged with a powerful sense of landscape, as is George Eliot’s, while Elizabeth Gaskell and the Brontë sisters convey in every word the quality of northern moors. In all these very different writers, as in Dickens himself, there is a sense of looking in some surprise at the behaviour of human beings. There is an externality which perhaps arises when children feel themselves separate from adults. For Grahame, “the futility of imparting our ideas had long been demonstrated”.10 As a result, he became convinced that he belonged to the world in general rather than specifically to the human race. There was much to encourage that view.


At The Mount, a small boy could experience a multitude of delights. “The sun was hot, the season merry June, and never (I thought) had there been such wealth and riot of buttercups throughout the lush grass. Green-and-gold was the dominant key that day. Instead of active ‘pretence’ with its shouts and its perspiration, how much better – I held – to lie at ease and pretend to one’s self, in green and golden fancies, slipping the husk and passing, a careless lounger, through a sleepy imaginary world all gold and green!” But then again, “To us, who had never known any other condition of things, it seemed entirely right and fitting that the wind sang and sobbed in the poplar tops, and, in the lulls of it, sudden spirts of rain spattered the already dusty roads, in that blusterous March day …”11


The house itself was not without its odd pleasures. The fictionalised older brother, Edward, recalls, “‘Do you remember we were playing with a dead mouse once on the piano, and the mouse was Robinson Crusoe, and the piano was the island, and somehow Crusoe slipped down inside the island, into its works, and we couldn’t get him out, though we tried rakes and all sorts of things, till the tuner came …’”.12 There is a touch of authorial artifice here, but the sense of a separate world remains intact.


The combined effect of The Golden Age and Dream Days is to convey a sense of eternal childhood, but in fact the idyll lasted only two years. Kenneth was five when they moved south after his mother’s death and, by the time he was seven, it was all over. Unknown to the children, the old house had long been a source of concern to their Uncle John, the powerful figure who was, at least in Grahame’s eyes, the ogre who lurked at the centre of the hated tribe of uncles. In taking on the responsibility for his brother’s children, John had also stepped into quasi-landlord status regarding the house they lived in. Although The Mount had offered a ready-made solution to the problem of what to do with the family of four parentless children, the upkeep of its crumbling fabric was an increasing worry. Mrs Ingles had been left with virtually no income, the house having been her husband’s only asset, so she was defenceless against John’s assumed power to act as he thought best. For some time, he had been suggesting a move to somewhere smaller and more easily kept, but she had resisted. She loved her house, and doubtless felt it a double injustice that she should be deprived of it when she had already suffered the inconvenience of taking on four grandchildren. The ample space at The Mount and its surroundings not only gave the children freedom, but allowed her a certain amount of privacy, and the prospect of a smaller, closer-packed household must have been dismaying.


John bided his time and, at last, circumstances played into his hands. In a gale just before the Christmas of 1865, one of The Mount’s chimneys came crashing down. Mrs Ingles was terrified that the remaining chimneys were unsafe, and it was quite obvious, even to a Victorian woman who was probably given little insight into the male world of money, that extensive rebuilding work at The Mount would be very costly. John had only to purse his lips and shake his head, and Mrs Ingles was left with the awful knowledge that she stayed in the damaged house, unrepaired, at her own risk. Fresh from the experience of howling wind and crashing masonry, she had no choice. She agreed that she and her fostered brood would move to Fern Hill Cottage, in Cranbourne. The cottage belonged to Mr Algernon Gilliatt, who, according to Helen, “was a cousin of Uncle David’s first wife”.13 She must have been wrong about this, for it was John Grahame, not David Ingles, who married again after his first wife’s death. David lived with his mother until his marriage in 1866. It was certainly Mr Gilliatt, however, who persuaded Mrs Ingles to move, riding across to The Mount to see her, and he afterwards became a close family friend. There are signs, though, that the change was not a happy one. The children lost the great garden which had been their make-believe world, and Mrs Ingles lost her beloved house. The new cottage was rented rather than bought, so she retained the proceeds of the sale, but it must have been a scant and bitter comfort.


For Kenneth, the move to Cranbourne in the spring of 1866 coincided with the onset of his inability to “remember anything particularly”. There is no reference to the cottage in any of his writing except for episodes of escape such as his meeting with a charming and other-worldly clergyman in A Harvesting. This, in fact, was Mr Lockwood, who succeeded David Ingles as curate of Cranbourne, to whom, according to Helen, “Kenneth went for lessons in Latin before going to St Edward’s School. He never had lessons at Cranbourne.”14 Certainly, this vicar prompts one of the few wistful references to human affection which Grahame ever permitted himself. Observing how a tramp “oozing malice and filth” nevertheless stops on the road to relieve his wife of her bundle and take her arm, the clergyman remarks on “how this strange thing, this love of ours, lives and shines out in the unlikeliest of places”. Wandering through his Greek quotations, he concludes that “the fairy filaments” of this world of love are in lowly places, and that “one must stoop to see it, old fellow, one must stoop”.15


It was a bleak time. Kenneth could not stop mourning his lost Eden. “Certain spots,” he wrote long afterwards, “always had their insensible attraction for certain moods. In love, one sought the orchard. Weary of discipline, sick of convention, impassioned for the road … one made for the big meadow. Mutinous, sulky, charged with plots and conspiracies, one always got behind the shelter of the raspberry canes.”16 There is a note of defensive self-mockery, but the loss is plain.


There are hints that Mrs Ingles was equally discontented. From this time onward, the rest of the family began to be involved in a burden-sharing exercise which suggests that the cottage was, as she had feared, too small to accommodate herself, the staff and the children in reasonable comfort. Deprived of the space and freedom of The Mount, it would not be surprising to find that Kenneth became “mutinous and sulky”; at any rate, he and his elder brother, Willie, were with increasing frequency asked to spend holidays with the sailor-uncle Jack or with John himself at his London house in Sussex Gardens.


Ripples of resentment spread even to Cunningham Grahame, alone in his great house by the loch in Inveraray. There is no correspondence to suggest that he was urged to take up his fatherly duties, but within a few months of the move he wrote to Mrs Ingles and offered to have his children back. For Kenneth, it raised wild hopes. Half-forgotten memories surged up in excitement as preparations for the journey were begun, and his general oblivion was penetrated by the long train-trip and “the brown leaping streams and purple heather, and the clear, sharp northern air [which] streamed in through the windows”.17


What happened in Inveraray is pushed away under the cloud of unknowing. “Return, indeed, was bitter,”18 Kenneth said, and left it at that. Cunningham’s last effort to draw together some shreds of self-respect failed abysmally, and the children saw, in helpless bewilderment, that their father was lost in dissolution. “We went back to Inveraray for a year in 66 & were there when he went to France,”19 Helen wrote. The scant words conjure up a nightmare. Cunningham had in fact resigned his post and fled from the growing scandal of his incapacity, abandoning house, children and country. He spent the rest of his life in a cheap boarding house in Le Havre. It was only three years since he and Bessie had moved so triumphantly into their new home.


Kenneth came back from Scotland a changed boy. As if to take over his father’s abandoned role, he went on long solitary walks while chanting such epics as The Lays of Ancient Rome. Helen, who wrote poetry herself but adopted her father’s tactic of keeping it strictly private, was disapproving. “Oh, we don’t go in for Kenneth, you know,” she said to friends, dissociating herself from his oddness.20 Later, the same dryness marks her account of his behaviour, “It was at Cranbourne that Kenneth began to spout poetry, first Shakespeare, then Macaulay’s Lays, then Tennyson.”21 She makes it sound like the progress of a disease and, if grief is an affliction of the mind and heart, then she was not wrong. Her brother had entered into a conviction that the world of adult human beings was a treacherous and unpleasant place, and he never quite recovered from it.




Notes


1. Maurice Collis, Stanley Spencer pp. 25–6


2. “The Olympians”, GA


3. Letter, Helen Grahame to EG (1933), BL


4. op. cit.


5. “The Olympians”, GA


6. “The Roman Road”, GA


7. “A Holiday”, GA


8. Constance Smedley, Crusaders (1929) p. 150, PG p. 17


9. “The Olympians”, GA


10. op. cit.


11. “Alarms and Excursions”, GA


12. “The Blue Room”, GA


13. Letter, Helen Grahame to EG (1933), BL


14. as above


15. “A Harvesting”, GA


16. “A Departure”, DD


17. “Romance of the Rail”, PP


18. op. cit.


19. Letter, Helen Grahame to EG (1933), BL


20. PG p. 28, personal communication Maxfield Parrish to Peter Green


21. op. cit.




















3


Schooling and Learning





Grahame’s early essays never allude to the move away from The Mount. Events of the following year or two are set in the continuing background of the old house and its comfortable, jungly gardens, as if he simply would not recognise, either at the time or later, that the unthinkable had happened. At the age of nine, he was sent away to boarding school, and he recalls the first hints of this intention with characteristic exasperation, regarding it as one more manifestation of the ridiculous adult world. Lusisti Satis, which, roughly translated, means an end to playing, begins with weary contempt.




Among the many fatuous ideas that possessed the Olympian noddle, this one was pre-eminent; that, being Olympians, they could talk quite freely in our presence on subjects of the closest import to us, so long as names, dates and other landmarks were ignored. We were supposed to be denied the faculty for putting two and two together, and like monkeys, who very sensibly refrain from speech lest they should be set to earn their livings, we were careful to conceal our capabilities for simple syllogism. Thus we were rarely taken by surprise, and so were considered by our disappointed elders to be apathetic and to lack the divine capacity for wonder.





The nursery news-service was fast and efficient, based on an investigative style which MI5 might applaud. Alerted by “the use of nods and pronouns, with significant haituses and interpolations in the French tongue … by a studious pretence of inattention we were not long in plucking out the heart of the mystery”. Accordingly, “we descended suddenly and together on Martha; proceeding, however, not by simple enquiry as to facts – that would never have done; but by informing her that the air was full of school and that we knew all about it, and then challenging denial. Martha was a trusty soul, but a bad witness for the defence, and we soon had it all out of her. The word had gone forth, the school had been selected; the necessary sheets were hemming even now, and Edward was the designated and appointed victim.”


This fictional Edward is, at first sight, a mystery. The stories in The Golden Age and Dream Days are so nostalgic and personal that it is impossible to dismiss them as pure invention, and yet Grahame’s own family does not match the children of whom he wrote. He himself had an older sister and brother, Helen and Willie, and a younger brother, Roland, but the fictional family consists of five children, with the anonymous narrator placed between the two pairs of siblings, the older Edward and Selina and the younger Charlotte and Harold. A possible explanation is that Kenneth as narrator has been given an honorary position in the Grahame family, thus doubling as partcipating child and recording adult, but a simpler interpretation presents itself. Uncle John had four children who related to their cousin Kenneth exactly as the fictional family does. The younger pair were called Agnes and Walter, and there was an older sister called Bessie (later Bessie Luard), with a senior brother whose name was in fact Edward.


We should not make too much of this coincidence; all writers use experience as the raw material which is put through the mincer of the writing process, and it could equally have been the name of the school which Kenneth attended – St Edward’s – which he took for a fictional elder brother. More interesting is the question of how the narrator places himself in remembered events, seeing the boy he was both from within and without. Compassion for the child one was is difficult to express without mawkishness or self-pity, and a degree of externalisation is essential if that child is to be drawn clearly. The balance is a subtle one, and Grahame maintains it with a skill which seems so artless that one is hardly aware of it.


In his biography, Peter Green assumed that Lusisti Satis recorded Kenneth’s own departure for school, even though the event is seen through the eyes of the younger brother who stays at home. This seems a perverse interpretation when it is recalled that Kenneth’s brother Willie was a year older, and is known to have attended St Edward’s. He, surely, must have been the Edward who was the “appointed victim”.


The account is an elegaic one, forming the last episode of The Golden Age. “We all trooped down to the station, of course; it is only in later years that the farce of ‘seeing people off’ is seen in its true colours. Edward was the life and soul of the party; and if his gaiety struck one at times as being a trifle overdone, it was not a moment to be critical … Then suddenly, when we were about half-way down, one of the girls fell a-snivelling.” For a perilous instant, the façade of sophistication is threatened as Edward “turned his head aside, feigning an interest in the landscape. It was but for a moment; then he recollected the hat he was wearing – a hard bowler, the first of that sort he had ever owned. He took it off, examined it, and felt it over. Something about it seemed to give him strength, and he was a man once more.” Remembering that the hard-hatted boy was only nine years old, there is a terrible poignancy about this self-control, as there is about the bereft little group which “straggled back from the station”. The narrator outlines a bleak future. “Edward might come back to us, but it would not be the Edward of yore, nor could things ever be the same again.” School would change their brother into a new Edward, “ragged of attire and lawless of tongue, a scorner of tradition and an adept in strange new physical tortures, one who would in the same half-hour dismember a doll and shatter a hallowed belief”. More than a century later, many families see the same change overtake their children after the first few weeks of secondary education.


Of his own experience at St Edward’s, Grahame says very little. Throughout his writing, a gentle humour modifies all pain and puts an embargo on grumbling or self-pity. He never agonised, and would have found any hint of it deeply embarrassing. Like all upper-middle-class boys of his generation, the “stiff upper lip” constituted a protective armour of self-control. If emotion is to be conveyed, it insisted, then it must be conveyed lightly and obliquely; as a result, his writing is charged with what he would not say. Often it is overlaid with joviality and burdened with classical allusion, indicative, perhaps of the smoke-screen of declared confidence below which a raw sensitivity tingled. In Grahame’s case, it was not until many years later, when he was invited back as a now-eminent person to address the boys at a Speech Day, that he uncovered his early school experience, and gave an account of it which was not, perhaps, quite what his fellow worthies on the platform had expected.


He recalled how pupils used to sit in rank order according to their degree of attainment, and how he, as a new boy, “was modestly occupying that position, at the very bottom, which seemed to me natural enough, when the then Headmaster entered – a man who had somehow formed an erroneous idea of my possibilities. Catching sight of me, he asked sternly, ‘What’s that thing doing down there?’ The master in charge could only reply that whether it was crass ignorance or invincible stupidity, he wotted not, but there it was. The Headmaster, who was, I was persuaded, a most illogical man … merely remarked that if that thing – meaning me – was not up there or near it, pointing to the head of the form, before the close of work, it was to be severely caned; and left the room.


“Well, you can imagine my feelings. I was a very little chap – not yet ten. I was not accustomed to be caned – that is, beaten. I had never been beaten. I had been doing my best, and at home had not been considered an absolute fool. And there I was, up against it in the fullest sense of the word! It was not surprising, perhaps, that I shed some bitter tears. But what happened? No one of my colleagues started forth as I half expected to champion the cause of youth and innocence. Instead, they all proceeded to display an ignorance and a stupidity, on even the simplest matters, which seemed unnatural, even for them. The consequence was, that I presently found myself, automatically it really seemed, soaring, soaring – till I stood, dazed and giddy, at the top of the form itself, and was kept there till my friendly colleagues thought the peril was safely past, when I was allowed to descend from that bad eminence to which merit had certainly not raised me.”1


It is a revealing anecdote, not least because Grahame chose to recall the incident, not for the benefit of the masters or to impress readers, but simply to amuse a new generation of schoolboys. The conspiracy of the class to send the hapless little Kenneth to the top by seeming to be stupid themselves had been in itself the first and most important of human lessons to learn. It rubbed in the ethos of all groups – that the earning of status within the group is more important to members than whatever it is that the group is supposed to do. Attempts by teachers to “divide and rule” usually fail, because they are perceived as an attack on the group. If they succeed, they achieve an amoeba-like split into two groups, one of which will declare itself as a band of outlaws. Every schoolchild is initiated into this understanding by some personal attack on the part of an over-zealous disciplinarian, and Grahame was no exception. Returning to St Edward’s as an adult, he felt impelled to demonstrate that he had kept faith with the group, and that the recognition he had achieved did not place him in “that bad eminence” at the top of the form. His Scottish soul may have been shocked to discover that the English value popularity above academic distinction, but he was too canny to ignore the lesson his fellows were teaching him.


It was, perhaps, the hardest lesson of his life. Despite the supportive behaviour of his class-mates on that first occasion, school society is very different from the puppyish warmth of the family, where squabbles, however fierce, do not seriously interrupt the sharing of experience and the participating in jointly created fantasies. School groups, as a microcosm of the larger society which awaits, impose their own subtle tests and taboos. Members may be eccentric as long as their eccentricity can be regarded as amusing, but they must not be overtly critical or contemptuous of the group – hence the traditional anxiety not to be thought a “swot”. If excellence is achieved, it should appear to be accidental. The natural childhood desire to be a hero must give way to a modest self-deprecation, and the greatest virtue is the passive one of endurance. It was not for nothing that Edward came home with a knowledge of “strange new physical tortures”, for passivity can only be tested by active means.


St Edward’s was, in fact, grotesquely appalling. Although it is now one of Oxford’s most highly respected independent schools, its early years, according to its own centenary publication, were such that the place should have been closed down at once, and very nearly was. The background to its foundation is curious, and explains much about Grahame’s life-long leaning towards Catholicism – a tendency which otherwise seems so at variance with his upbringing.


In the early nineteenth century, Oxford was swept by a new move towards an intellectual Catholicism. It was a revolutionary stance whch caused revulsion in the established church and thus in the university, but its adherents were fervent. One such was Thomas Chamberlain, born in 1810 of a clergyman father. He went to Westminster School and then to Christ Church, where he took a third in Literae Humaniores. As an undergraduate, he heard John Keble preach at St Mary’s, and became convinced of his true vocation. He was ordained a priest in 1835, and accepted a living in the parish of St Thomas the Martyr, which lay at the very gates of Christ Church but was desperately poor. The people, though largely illiterate, were convinced that their new vicar was heretically popish, and flung stones at him when they saw him about the parish, but Chamberlain persevered, and won respect through his selfless devotion to sufferers in the devastating cholera outbreaks of 1848 and 1854.


Feeling a little more assured of public support, he turned his formidable energies towards educating the young in the Catholic faith. He established several parish schools, then became more ambitious, setting up a girls’ school, St Anne’s, an Industrial Home “for children taken from evil surroundings”, a School of St Scholastica “for the training of school mistresses”, and a High School for boys called Osney House School, which went bankrupt within three years.


Undeterred, Chamberlain entered into negotiations with Brasenose College for the lease of a run-down, rambling house at 29 New Inn Hall Street, on a corner opposite the present site of the Wesley Memorial Chapel. One can hardly imagine a more marked religious contrast. This passionately Catholic institution in its crumbling house opened with two pupils in April 1863 and, by the time Kenneth Grahame arrived in 1868, there were about forty boys. Chamberlain, having secured the £95 p.a. lease from Brasenose, installed F. W. Fryer as headmaster and left the rest to him, with disastrous results.


Fryer was twenty-five years old, a curate with a BA from St Edmund Hall and a firm devotion to the Oxford Movement. This seems to have been Chamberlain’s only criterion for appointing him. The rest of the staff consisted of a fluctuating number of undergraduates, none of whom had any qualifications or experience. The teaching was thus virtually non-existent, and the domestic arrangements were dreadful. The building was rotten and dilapidated, and rats “swarmed under the floors, in the walls and over the rotten rafters”, according to the school’s own account. It continues, “The sanitary arrangements were primitive in the extreme, and later the drains themselves became defective, precipitating a real crisis”. It is also recorded that some of the masters “slept in cupboards”. The food was appalling, consisting largely of porridge, bread, fat meat and beer, and personal hygiene was limited to a once-weekly splash in a tin bath in the boot-room. In the summer months, the water was not heated.


The school’s academic activities were limited to Latin and Greek and Holy Scripture, with a lot of singing “to weird Gregorian tunes”, as an ex-pupil recalled,2 and a smattering of other subjects. Literature was not touched on. The cane was used constantly.


It seems extraordinary that parents were prepared to send, and go on sending, their sons to such an institution, but St Edward’s had one immense advantage which outweighed all else. It was cheap. Fees at that time were set at £25 per annum, because Chamberlain’s declared intention had been to “place within the reach of parents of moderate means a school where their children could be brought up in the true principles of the Church, and have at the same time all the advantages of a Public School”.3 Like many men of rigid beliefs, he was unswayed by the practical results of his theory. He merely observed that the school did not pay, and until it did, he would not spend money on improvements. As R. D. Hill put it in his account of the school, in Chamberlain’s view, “Anything was good enough for school boys. They were no worse off than he was at Westminster”.


For some, it was intolerable. A new boy drowned himself in the Cherwell in the Christmas Term of 1869. His surviving twin brother was perhaps shocked into an unguarded revealing of the horrors of St Edward’s, and Chamberlain was forced into taking some action. He sacked the hapless headmaster, Fryer, who had struggled on for so many years in a crumbling building, with unqualified, poverty-stricken staff (even the second master received only £100 p.a., and some earned as little as £15 per term), and appointed Algernon Barrington Simeon, who had a Pass BA from Christ Church.


Simeon had been drawn to Chamberlain for religious reasons. He was a member of an eclectic University society called the Brotherhood of the Holy Trinity, and wrote in reminiscence about a Holy Week spent in “constant prayer to be kept up by one of us all night and most of the day, with the result that we became very hysterical and I was obliged to go to a Doctor”. He was, however, enthusiastic about the headship of St Edward’s, though somewhat astonished to be offered such a post at the age of twenty-two, and set about improving things where he could, renting a house two doors down the street to help with the overcrowded conditions in which the boys lived. He admitted that the school had a bad name and was “at a very low ebb”.


Simeon could do little about the fabric of the school itself, which was rapidly disintegrating. The floor of the dining-room had fallen in and the banisters were off the stairs, and, in the winter of 1870–71, a large area of the outside wall collapsed into the street. It must have seemed to Kenneth Grahame, then twelve years old, that there was little security to be found in bricks and mortar. The forces of nature had overwhelmed The Mount, and now, though less regrettably, they were destroying 29 New Inn Hall Street. Chamberlain tried to get Brasenose, as landlords, to repair the house, which had been declared structurally unsafe, but the College had other plans for such a prime site, and regarded the disintegration of the existing house as a step in the desired direction. The school would have to move elsewhere.


By now, Simeon had bought St Edward’s as a going concern outright from Chamberlain, for £300. He had raised the fees to a realistic level, paid off the bank debt and instituted a vigorous fund-raising operation. His searches for a suitable ready-made building were fruitless, and he turned to a hunt for a building site. He found it in the then-empty land between St Margaret’s Road and Summertown, which he described as a “miserable dirty little village”. In the spring of 1872, he and a well-wishing spinster called Miss Skene cut the first sod for the new building in the middle of a five-acre turnip field adjacent to Woodstock Road.


The new school was supposed to be ready by 1 August 1873, but when the boys came back on 22 August, it was to a state of chaos. The weather had been appalling and the workmen had staged a strike, and the building was far from ready. Simeon recalled how he “swept out dormitories, throwing chips and lime out of the windows”, and how the boiler would not work, and a boy fell into a well, and two others ran away, and the father of two new boys tripped over a bucket of whitewash and nearly removed his sons on the spot. Two days later, however, an official opening ceremony took place, with the choir, complete with crucifix and banner, proceeding from room to room, singing psalms, and concluding with the Missa de Angelis in the temporary chapel.


The Oxford dignitaries were scandalised by the High flavour of St Edward’s, and rumours were circulated that the place was a Popish monastery. The Public Worship Regulation Act had just been passed, making the use of ritual a civil offence and, had it not been for the support of the Bishop, Simeon might well have been forced to modify the school’s religious observances.


A school photograph of Kenneth Grahame as a very small boy shows him in a formal pose, his arm resting obediently on the back of a chair (it was a stance adopted by each one of the subjects), his hair neatly cropped and brushed, his face white and enduring, already showing the wariness which was to become so characteristic. For all the rough-and-tumble of his family life, he had spent much of his time alone in his wanderings through the lanes and meadows of Berkshire, and was used to the interaction between the natural world and his solitary self. St Edward’s was, to all intents and purposes, in the country, but the strangeness of it all was very stark in the small boy’s mind, and it would be a long time before he could develop any intimacy with the new landscape. Later, he wrote of “a small schoolboy, new kicked out of his nest into the draughty, uncomfortable outer world, his unfledged skin still craving the feathers whereinto he was wont to nestle. The barrack-like school, the arid, cheerless class-rooms, drove him to Nature for redress; and, under an alien sky, he would go forth and wander along the iron road by impassive fields, so like yet so unlike those hitherto a part of him.”4 The natural world could sometimes make itself felt in less than poetic ways. Cows grazed on Port Meadow where the boys played cricket, with no boundaries, but with the occasional hazard of a well-placed cowpat. “It was better,” Kenneth remarked later, “to feign a twisted ankle or a sudden faintness, and allow some keener enthusiast to recover the ball from where it lay.”5


After the move to Woodstock Road in 1873, Kenneth was able to enjoy the proximity of the city centre with its towers and archways, its ancient colleges of creamy Cotswold stone and its seductive glimpses of quadrangle and lawn. There were fewer academic joys as well. School supervision of the pupils’ free time was surprisingly lenient, and Grahame was able to escape quite often from the “big, beefy, hefty, hairy men called masters who never explain, never retract, never apologise”.6 In his wanderings round the city’s cobbled streets, the first thing which attracted him was “the market, always a joy to visit. It seemed to have everything the heart of man could desire, from livestock at one end to radiant flowers in pots at the other.”.7


Very clearly, Grahame learned as much outside school as in it. Reminiscing later about “Teddy’s”, he said, “The two influences which most soaked into me there, and have remained with me ever since, were the good grey Gothic on the one hand and, on the other, the cool secluded reaches of the Thames – the ‘Stripling Thames’, remote and dragon-fly haunted, before it attains to the noise, ribbons and flannels of Folly Bridge. The education, in my time, was of the fine old crusted order, with all the classics in the top bin – I did Greek verse in those days, so help me! But the elements, the classics, the Gothic, the primeval Thames, fostered in me, perhaps, the pagan germ that would have mightily shocked the author of The Sabbath.”8 The reference is to Kenneth’s great-grand-uncle, James Grahame, the poet about whom Lord Byron had been so scathing.


The attack had left the family with a strong feeling that writing was a risky business, even though James had never been rash enough to take it up as a profession. Like Kenneth’s father, he had been an Edinburgh advocate and had failed at it, though not from an excess of bonhomie – quite the reverse. He was a man of gloomy disposition, and abandoned the Bar to enter Holy Orders, eventually settling in Durham as a devout but deeply melancholy curate. His presence in the family background was not an encouragement to a young man who was already showing a literary bent – and neither, Kenneth found, were the masters at St Edward’s. It was expected that most of the boys would enter the Church or the Army, and to announce an intention of becoming a writer would have been as unthinkable  as an ambition to run away and join a circus. Kenneth prudently kept his plans to himself, admitting only to a hoe that he would do well enough in his exams to gain an Oxford University place. Odd as it may seem now, English was not then recognised as an academic discipline in its own right, and the would-be novelist had to study some other subject, usually Law or Classics.


St Edward’s itself seems to have been startled by Kenneth Grahame’s eventual success, and a member of staff, writing in 1913, said of his erstwhile pupil that his first work, published in the school magazine, showed “no promise of the exquisite prose that was to be in later years the delight of thousands”. It was hardly surprising. Kenneth had learnt to be cautious and to stay out of trouble. He wrote in a pedantic, uncontroversial style, and his essay, entitled The Good and Bad Effects of Rivalry, is calculated to win approval, exploiting the Christian ethic of the school quite shamelessly.




It certainly is a very difficult thing in practice to feel kindly towards a rival, and to anyone but to one who always bears in mind one of the chief duties of a Christian, to love one another, and keeps a good control over himself, it is a very difficult thing.





The carelessly repeated last phrase betrays the boredom which the essay barely transcends. The hypocrisy is blatant, and yet it worked. The piece was accepted and printed, even though it contains no honestly held opinion and does not touch on the fourteen-year-old author’s real feelings. His later reminiscences are frank about the tedium of enforced church attendance, and the Paganism which formed the basis of his later thinking gives the lie to his pious utterances about Christian duty.


By early adolescence, Grahame was functioning on two levels. The private world which he had shared with his sister and brothers, and with the spirit of nature, had been tucked away in his mind, safe from the abrasion of the reality in which he found himself. At school, his real identity had to be kept hidden. In its place, he was required to deploy new skills as a performer. He had to behave in a way which was acceptable to his fellow pupils and to staff, even though such behaviour was contradictory to all his inclinations. His worth was evaluated, not in terms of what he felt and thought, but only as a result of what his performance had achieved. He learned that one’s own being is of very little interest in a society which uses status as its sole yardstick. For many children, the old self-awareness dies quickly and without protest – if, indeed, it ever had a real existence – but for some, the duality between the competent performer and the secret inner self becomes established during these painful years, setting up a tension which may never be resolved. In Grahame’s case, the two levels were very widely separated. Having received so little acceptable adult guidance, he had developed a particularly rich inner life of acute awareness and lively imaginings, on which was clamped the heavily inhibiting effect of respectable Victorian behaviour. These opposites sound like a recipe for disaster, and they certainly gave rise to much personal pain – and yet, in a larger sense, they can act like the opposing chemical elements in a battery, causing a constant potential current which demands to be used. This certainly happened in Grahame’s case.


From the time he went to school, Kenneth became aware of his own identity in a new way. As a young child, he had simply been what he was, reacting to circumstances with grief or delight, but essentially contained within his own being. The requirement to be something else precipitated him into a new stance, from which he could look at his own being as an outsider. Robert Louis Stevenson, whose work was the biggest single influence on Grahame’s own writing, contends that this externalising is an inevitable process of growing up. As he says in an essay called Child’s Play, a “change takes place in the sphere of intellect, by which all things are transformed and seen through theories and associations as through coloured windows”.9 A child, he insists, must participate absolutely in his own imaginings, using a chair for a dragon or pretending that a plate of porridge is an island in a sea of milk. This is play-acting rather than true imagining, for the child “is at the experimental stage; he is not sure how one would feel in certain circumstances; to make sure, he must come as near trying it as his means permit”. Adults, on the other hand, do know how they would feel, for they have had wide experience. They can imagine and know that they are imagining. “It is the grown people who make the nursery stories; all the children do, is jealously to preserve the text.”


If, as Stevenson suggests, the formative part of growing up lies in the acquiring of experience, then schools assist that process by supplying experience, even (or perhaps particularly) if it is of a kind which the child would not voluntarily have chosen. If this is true, then St Edward’s, in the eccentric style of its early existence, provided Grahame with some valuable material. The first headmaster, Fryer, according to a Chronicle piece by another ex-pupil, “would hide pence and halfpence and turn us all out in the dark to look for them. Ledges in the brick wall were always a favourite hiding place, and lighted touchwood was used as a lantern. Pits were dug and filled with mud and water, and over them, and into them, the unsuspecting ones were lured.” Boys slept five or six to a bedroom in the crumbling Queen Anne building, and the only sympathetic person was the matron, Mrs Reece, who took a motherly interest in the smaller boys and would sometimes take a homesick lad into her kitchen for a nocturnal feast of bread and treacle. She was even prepared to hide her stowaways under a heap of dirty towels if she heard a master approaching. For the rest, the school seems to have been run with the mild sadism so typical of its day. In the absence of a sports field, most of the garden had been converted into a playground and in this limited space, the boys exercised in whatever ways could be devised, playing a game they called “Prisoner’s Base” or, if all else failed, rolling a heavy log about the tarmac. The Revd J. C. Michel recalled that “Some of the fellows dug out pits in which they buried boxes labelled ‘Gold’, and we tried to imagine the feelings of the finders in after years”.10


Grahame, of course, lamented the lost garden, which he had never seen. “Perhaps there were trees in it then,” he says wistfully, and added that “there still remained, in the receding ‘waist’ of the house, under the dining room window, some scanty flower-beds, where the horticulturally minded were allowed, and even encouraged, to employ their grovelling instincts.”11 St Edward’s, whatever its faults, was not institutional. Its architecture was absolutely domestic, with school desks pushed into ornamented, high-ceilinged rooms which had never been designed for educational purposes, and its academic discipline was balanced by an anarchic lack of interest in what the boys did with their spare time. “Some sort of stable, or garden, gateway gave issue on the street northwards;” Grahame recalls, “but this was never used, and I only happen to remember it because on my first Guy Fawkes Day we boys attempted a private bonfire, thinking in our artless way, that in Oxford bonfires were the rule rather than the exception. The authorities, however, thought otherwise, and firemen and police battered at the stable gate aforesaid till explanations ensued …”12 After the move to Woodstock Road, things were far more orthodox, although the older boys enjoyed a considerable independence. As Grahame put it, “we were free to wander where we liked; but there were ‘bounds’, mystic but definite, and these we must never overstep – first, because it was so easy for us to be spotted in our school caps, and secondly, because we didn’t want to. These bounds chiefly excluded districts like St Ebbes, St Thomas’s (except for church) the cattle market, Jericho, and their like …”13 Otherwise, boys could wander unsupervised round the city.


It seems that “Teddy’s” was aiming for an inexpensive version of the public-school ethic, with the mixture of brutalism, anarchy and mystic tradition, bound together in the name of Christianity, which gave it such appeal to parents and promised their sons the cachet of belonging to a caste of favoured initiates. Thomas Hughes had written with rapture about his own experiences at Dr Arnold’s Rugby in Tom Brown’s Schooldays, and the book’s influence was considerable. Many a Victorian father warmed to Squire Brown’s advice to his son as the pair of them waited for the mail coach which would take the boy away to a new life.




If schools are what they were in my time, you’ll see a great many cruel blackguard things done, and hear a deal of foul bad talk. But never fear. You tell the truth, keep a brave and kind heart, and never listen to or say anything you wouldn’t have your mother and sister hear, and you’ll never feel ashamed to come home, or we to see you.





This little homily makes no allusion whatever to learning, and, perhaps for that very reason, was embraced with enthusiasm by the upper-class English fathers of the time. St Edward’s, however, could not achieve the magnificent carelessness of the old public-school system. It catered for just such men as John Grahame, who regarded education as a necessary business deal rather than a vital social achievement. Its boys were not the swaggering young gentlemen of Hughes’s narrative who would for their amusement loosen the lynch-pins of a farmer’s cart or pepper the Irish navvies working on the road with pea-shooters from the safety of their coach, afterwards buying themselves out of the resulting trouble. The Jubilee number of the St Edward’s Chronicle claimed of its Old Boys that “the so-called ‘gentlemen-at-large’ – a dangerous sort of wild beast – is a negligible quantity in the total of our results. The O.S.Es are almost without exception workers.” It is an interesting declaration of policy, and utterly at variance with the public-school tradition of the time, when the sons of gentlemen were expected to inherit land, and confidence was considered more important than knowledge. It was against such a background of personal freedom and power that Squire Brown could say that “a man is to be valued wholly and solely for that which he is in himself, for that which stands up in the four fleshly walls of him, apart from clothes, rank, fortune and all externals whatsoever”, but St Edward’s could not entertain any such breezy socialist ideas. Its strong religious bias inculcated humility and its grand gestures were circumscribed by expediency and its confidence limited by class-consciousness. As a result, its boys were somewhere between privilege and cap-doffing – able to claim that they had received a classical education, but not to join the public-school élite.


In such a mid-way position (which in our time has become virtually universal) every participant is fixed in a sliding scale of competition. Far from being “valued wholly and solely for that which he is in himself”, he is required to justify himself through conscious action. Grahame recognised at once that this new environment did not concern itself with his real being, and began the process of self-protection. “Whenever a child is set down in a situation that is distasteful,” he wrote, “out of harmony, jarring – and he is very easily jarred – that very moment he begins, without conscious effort, to throw out and to build up an environment really suitable to his soul, and to transport himself thereto.”14


Always obliquely, as if unable to transcend the caution which school had bred in him, Grahame was to allude again and again to the crushing effect which an imposed system has on the imagination, that mysterious quality which, as he said, “begins to work at the point where vision ceases”. He was a passionate defender of the inner sense of potential, that “primal quicksilver” which lives in all children, claiming that it is so often mistaken for “Original Sin; a term wherewith they brand whatever frisks and butts with rude goatish horns against accepted maxims and trim theories of education”.15


Perhaps schools often manage to inculcate principles which are very different from the ones which they are hoping to drum into the pupils; certainly, in Grahame’s case, St Edward’s confirmed in him a lasting hatred for theorising. Books, however, could and did provide much-needed friendship and advice. Marcus Aurelius, in particular, became a wise companion, and his Meditations offered a consoling word in the ear which the fatherless boy found irresistible. “Generally those amongst us who are called Patricians are rather deficient in paternal affection,” the old Roman told him, and Kenneth, descended from the kings of Scotland, must have taken some comfort in regarding the shortcomings of his upbringing as a normal Patrician quirk. That his new friend was nearly two thousand years older than Grahame himself was quite immaterial. He was a companion who might almost have come from the same Calvinist background, a Stoic of great humour, but who understood that survival depended largely on one’s capacity to put up with things. “A man ought to be seen by the gods neither dissatisfied with anything nor complaining,” he insisted, and Grahame quotes the remark in The Romance of the Road, commenting that it does not sound “an excessive demand to make of humanity”. Throughout his life, he was suspicious of reformers, not through any lack of human feeling, but because he could not bring himself to believe that grand theories were more to be trusted than the immediate presence of life itself. It was a faith constantly tested by suffering, but Grahame very probably came across Aristotle’s dictum that “The beauty of the soul shines out when a man bears with composure one heavy mischance after another, not because he does not feel them, but because he is a man of high and heroic temper”.


Heroism was an easy concept to a boy whose childhood had been spent in romantic forays into the persona of Sir Galahad or Ulysses or Nelson. The wild inner capacity for magic was a most precious part of the inner life which he referred to as the “original Waft from the Garden”. One could be a hero at will, regardless of current limitations. Even gender was of no account, and he has the fictional sister, Selina, deeply involved in Trafalgar Day, having “taken spiritual part in every notable engagement of the British navy”. Planning a commemoration, she “paced the turf restlessly with a short quarter-deck walk”.16 He writes, too, of “the little girl footing it after the gypsy’s van, oblivious of lessons … hearing naught save the faint, far bugle-summons to the prehistoric little savage that thrills and answers in the tingling blood of her”.17


In all Grahame’s copious reminiscence, there is nothing on the day-to-day  work which he did at school. His later rememberings are only of such scant attention as he could give to his inner self through reading and through the free-time wanderings in Oxford. All his experience of the adult world, both at home and at school, had convinced him that it was hell-bent on suppressing the secret excitement of knowing that one is alive. In his view, all children are charged with the wild potential of this self-awareness. Looking back, he said, “The Mid-Victorian young were dangerous animals, only existing on sufferance, and kept as far as possible behind bars, where one need not be always sending to see what baby is doing and tell him not to”.18


With the advent of school, the “bars” became much more real. Naturally, the possibility of escape was discussed. Edward, during a period of depression about the coming experience, is advised by the first-person narrator that “You can always run away, you know”. Both boys are slightly irritated by the literality with which Charlotte takes this possibility. Abandoning all romanticism, she “melted into tears before her vision of a brother with blistered feet and an empty belly, passing nights of frost ’neath the lee of windy haystacks”. It is subtly conveyed that the boys meant something less actual in their picture of “running away”.19 For them, the possibility of finding freedom remained a consolation only as long as it was not put to the terrible test of practicality. The real escape lay in the belief that it was possible in a thousand different ways, all of them imaginary.


Kenneth’s father, through the significance of his absence, was probably an important influence at this time. An all-boys school is, inescapably, a paternal institution, based on the relationship between boys and older men, and in the late nineteenth century, when the influence of women was at a low ebb, the example set by the father was of prime importance. Victorian men were impressively dressed, wearing top hats which increased their height, black coats, high collars, flamboyant facial hair – all adopted in the interests of increasing the respect with which they were regarded. Cunningham Grahame had no doubt looked a fine and impressive figure of a man when thus dressed for his duties, and it was hard for his son to differentiate between this grandeur and his father’s other attributes. The boy must have retained a confused sense of respect, not only for his father’s orthodox status, but also for the mysterious power which enabled him to remove himself from the whole scene when he chose to. As Humphrey Carpenter rightly points out in Secret Gardens, Cunningham was the ultimate escaper. When things became impossible, he simply abandoned them and went away to a place called Abroad. To his admiring small son, he could do no wrong. After the débâcle of the 1866 Inveraray visit, Kenneth clung obstinately to his father’s poetry and long walks, even though robbed of the man’s physical presence, and he also clung to the conviction that a man should have the power to remove himself from an intolerable situation if he so chose.


It was a consolation which Grahame never abandoned. The theme of escape recurs constantly in his writing. Again and again his heroes abandon all commitment and make a bolt for freedom, always in response to that wild thrill in the blood which causes Mole to throw down his whitewash brush in the opening paragraph of The Wind in the Willows. Perhaps, however unintentionally, St Edward’s acted like the wired cork in a champagne bottle, building up a pressure of ferment. In the hands of the unskilled, it is a risky process, fraught with dangers of explosion – it has the same crudity as the burning-pigsty means of producing roast pork which Lamb describes in his famous essay – and yet, occasionally, it will succeed. Grahame learned to “play the system”. He worked hard at school, spurred on by the thought of the University place which might be within his grasp, and he played the team games which were instituted once a proper playing-field became available after the school’s move to new premises.


He learned the lessons of diplomacy well. He became Head Boy and captain of the Rugby XV, won the Sixth Form Prize, the Divinity Prize and the Prize for Latin Prose, but he also obeyed the advice of Marcus Aurelius to “retire into this little territory of thy own, and above all do not distract or strain thyself, but be free”. A kind of security began to be established. His ancient friend encouraged him in it. “A man cannot lose either the past or the future,” he said; “for what a man has not, how can any one take this from him?”


The old Roman had not, perhaps, allowed for the vulnerability of the present. During Kenneth’s last year at St Edward’s, he and his elder brother Willie, whose ill-health had invalided him out of the school three years previously, spent Christmas with their uncle Jack Ingles, who lived in Portsmouth and commanded HMS Hercules. Jack was a hugely admired figure to the boys, because of the glamour of visiting him aboard the ship, but this visit was to prove tragic. Willie fell ill with his recurrent bronchitis and, this time, it turned to pneumonia. He died on New Year’s Eve, the last day of 1871.


Kenneth was fifteen. He could express no reaction to his brother’s death. The funeral was at Highgate Cemetery, where many Grahames lie buried, and, a little over two years later, he went back to visit the grave. Even then, there was nothing he could say. “Close by,” he noted in his diary on that spring day of 22 April 1874, “is the grave of Rossetti’s father, mother and wife.” Somehow, it evokes the ghost of Edward, turning his new hat in his hands in a moment of struggle with boyish tears.
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